STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CORY LAMONT SPARKMAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000172

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED  
APR 26 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. In violation of the state and federal constitutions, did the judge err in denying Appellant's request for re-sentencing where he received a *mandatory* sentence of life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole, because the statutory and regulatory scheme governing parole does not provide for consideration of the characteristics attendant to youth?

II. Did the trial judge erred by denying Appellant an opportunity to present evidence, or even proffer evidence to be considered on appeal, regarding the parole board's decision-making process to demonstrate that parole is illusory for Appellant in light of the parole board's policies and procedures, which permit denial of parole on the basis of the seriousness of the offense, and the parole board's failure to consider the impact of juvenility on Appellant and his offenses?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 1992, sixteen-year-old Appellant and Jackie Robinson killed Ronald Ravenel and Michael Gadsden. R. 37-40; R. 41-44; R. 45-48; R. 49-59; R. 70-78. On January 4, 1993, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of murder (1993-GS-10-90; -92) and one count of armed robbery (1993-GS-10-91). R. 70-78. On September 27, 1993, Appellant entered guilty pleas to the charged offenses. R. 37-40; R. 41-44; R. 45-48; R. 49-59. The Honorable Gerald C. Smoak sentenced Appellant to mandatory life sentences for each of the murders and to twenty-five years for the armed robbery. R. 37-40; R. 41-44; R. 49-59; R. 70-78. He ordered the sentences to be served consecutively. R. 37-40; R. 49-59; R. 70-78.

On April 1, 2016, Appellant, who has spent more than half of his life in prison, filed a *pro se* motion for re-sentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). R. 37-40; R. 45-48. On October 11, 2017, the state, represented by Charles M. Condon, Jr., filed its response. R.41-44. Through counsel, Cameron Blazer, Appellant filed a reply. R. 45-48. After a brief hearing on November 13, 2017, the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson denied Appellant's motion for re-sentencing by an order filed December 21, 2017. R. 49-59.

Subsequently, on January 8, 2018, Appellant filed a motion to reconsider. R. 60-67. By an order filed on January 24, 2018, Judge Jefferson denied the motion. R. 68-69. After receiving the order on January 25, 2018, Appellant served his notice of Appeal on February 1, 2018. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

It was undisputed that Appellant was sixteen-years old at the time of his crimes. R. 3, l. 18; R. 37-40; R. 41-44; R. 45-48; R. 49-59. It was also undisputed that Appellant, without negotiation or recommendation, pled guilty and had been sentenced to two consecutive life sentences with the possibility of parole after service of twenty years. R. 3, l. 23 – R. 4, l. 5; R. 4, ll. 21-24; R. 7, ll. 16-18; R. 37-40; R. 41-44; R. 45-48; R. 49-59. Finally, it was undisputed that Appellant had been denied parole three times. R. 5, ll. 1-11; R. 8, ll. 17-22; R. 41-44; R. 45-48; R. 49-59; R. 60-67. Each time, Appellant was “cursorily denied parole on the basis of the seriousness of his offense.” R. 45-48.

At the hearing on the motion for re-sentencing, Appellant argued his sentence, while parole eligible, was the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence because the parole system failed to afford a meaningful opportunity for release. R. 45-48. Specifically, Appellant explained the parole board did not consider the factors mandated by the United States Supreme Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court to ensure sentences for juvenile offenders align with the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. R. 45-48. Appellant’s sentence allowing for parole eligibility was “a technical distinction without a material difference” from life without parole sentences. R. 45-48. “[W]ithout a system in place to ensure a constitutionally compliant review of the Miller<sup>1</sup> factors and their effect on his case, there appears to be no meaningful opportunity for him to secure the rights guaranteed to him by the Eighth Amendment as outlined in Miller.” R. 45-48.

Appellant’s counsel noted that the judge had restricted her ability to present evidence at the hearing, and the judge affirmed that she limited the hearing to legal argument, but would

---

<sup>1</sup> Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012).

permit supplementing the record if the judge “felt it was necessary.” R. 7, ll. 19-24; see also R. 45-48 (requesting an opportunity to present evidence as to the effect of parole eligibility in his case). When counsel proposed, at a minimum, presenting testimony from Appellant “[t]o establish the contours of the parole system,” the judge refused, stating the parole system was not “dispositive” to the legal issue presented. R. 8, ll. 1-16. Counsel argued the parole system’s operations were relevant because it was the parole system itself that rendered Appellant “similarly situated” to those individuals serving life without parole. R. 9, ll. 10-17. Counsel explained:

[T]he parole statute in South Carolina has not changed one whit since Miller or since Aiken vs. Byars, and the government is resting on the fact that he has parole eligibility as making it similar to the Wyoming situation, which [in] Montgomery v. Louisiana,<sup>2</sup> the Supreme Court said, parole is fine. If you get parole and you follow what Wyoming does, then yes, it’s going to work. The problem is that South Carolina’s parole system bears no resemblance whatsoever to the parole system in Wyoming that Montgomery vs. Louisiana approved of.

R. 9, l. 23 – R. 10, l. 7. Thus, counsel argued, it was “important to establish for the record” exactly what the parole board considered and, more importantly, what the parole board failed to consider. R. 10, ll. 8-14. As counsel explained, “if parole eligibility is merely illusory, it’s no parole eligibility at all.” R. 10, l. 22 – R. 11, l. 2. Counsel argued “the parole board hearing itself is constitutionally deficient” and the circuit court had authority to “hear evidence to establish that and that the state ha[d] provided no evidence to refute it.” R. 11, ll. 20-23.

Appellant requested the Court consider the structure of the parole review process was “at odds with Miller” because the Constitution requires consideration “of the issues related to juvenility,” which the parole board refused to consider. R. 12, l. 21 – R. 13, l. 6. Counsel explained there was no evidence in the record and could be no evidence to indicate any

---

<sup>2</sup> Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016).

consideration by the parole board of the Miller factors. R. 13, ll. 7-11.<sup>3</sup> According to counsel, “[t]he constitutional rights protected by Miller and reviewed in Montgomery are not being honored by the [parole] process” in South Carolina. R. 13, ll. 13-15. Essentially, Appellant had been “sitting in [prison] for 25 years with no consideration of the juvenility - - the impact of juvenility on his crimes, on his capacity for rehabilitation, on his capacity to live independently of the confines of the prison system” and he would never receive such consideration based upon the strictures of the parole board’s review. R. 18, l. 8 – R. 19, l. 6.

Persuasively, counsel pointed out that the Supreme Court never indicated its decision in Miller was limited. R. 20, ll. 14-18. Rather, the Court decided the case before it, which concerned two juveniles sentenced to mandatory sentences of life without the possibility of parole. R. 20, ll. 18-21. Thereafter, the South Carolina Supreme Court concluded Miller and the Eighth Amendment required re-sentencing for individuals with sentences of *discretionary* life without parole and those similarly situated; thus, the Court acknowledged Miller was not limited to its facts. R. 20, l. 22 – R. 21, l. 5.

The state’s central argument was that Appellant was not eligible for re-sentencing because he was serving a sentence of life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after twenty years. R. 4, ll. 18-24; R. 41-44. According to the state, Aiken applied *only* to sentences of life without the possibility of parole. R. 5, ll. 14-18.

Additionally, the state relied upon Montgomery to argue that a parole eligible sentence was a way to cure unconstitutional life without parole sentences, and therefore, Appellant’s

---

<sup>3</sup> When the state pointed to Appellant’s institutional record, which Appellant was unable to rebut based upon the judge’s limitation on the presentation of evidence, the judge explained that the parole board could deny parole based solely upon his disciplinary record in prison. R. 23, ll. 14-17. Counsel argued the judge’s observation “underscored” her argument because the parole board could deny parole for an unfavorable institutional record without consideration of the juvenility factors – or any other factor. R. 24, ll. 1-10.

parole eligible life sentence was constitutional. R. 5, l. 23 – R. 6, l. 13; R. 22, ll. 8-13. On this point, the state claimed “the parole board can take into considerations of youthfulness and immaturity at the time of the crime, rehabilitation, along with other important considerations.” R. 5, ll. 19-22; R. 41-44.

Judge Jefferson explained her understanding of Aiken was that “a juvenile should just not get a life sentence because they killed somebody because they are very young, they lack discretion, and, as a matter of procedure, [a judge] should consider all of that.” R. 14, ll. 14-23. The “only difference” between a death penalty case and a juvenile sentencing proceeding, in the judge’s estimation, was that a judge would not consider aggravating circumstances.” R. 14, ll. 21-25. Rather, the circuit court would “only consider the mitigating circumstances” in juvenile sentencing proceedings. R. 14, l. 25 – R. 15, l. 1.

In her order, Judge Jefferson construed Appellant’s request for re-sentencing to be a request for “an Aiken hearing for the specific purpose of granting him parole thereby usurping the role of the parole board and their decision-making authority which is delegated to them by statute.” R. 49-59. Judge Jefferson then concluded “this request exceed[ed] [the court’s] authority as well as the purpose and goal of the Aiken decision.” R. 49-59. The judge continued, finding no support in Aiken for “a guarantee of the grant of parole versus parole eligibility.” R. 49-59.

Additionally, Judge Jefferson concluded that “only those defendants sentenced to life without parole as juveniles are eligible for re-sentencing under Miller and Aiken.” R. 49-59. According to Judge Jefferson, because Appellant is parole-eligible, he “is not ‘similarly situated’ to those in Miller and Aiken” and not “a proper candidate for re-sentencing in accordance with the guidelines set for by these cases.” R. 49-59. In support of her finding, Judge Jefferson noted

her “interpretation of Aiken [was] supported by Montgomery v. Alabama where in the U.S. Supreme Court held that giving Miller retroactive effect [did] not require courts to re-litigate sentences in every case where the defendant received life without parole,” and provided that “[a] court may instead elect to extend parole eligibility to juvenile offenders rather than re-sentence them.” R. 49-59.<sup>4</sup>

Judge Jefferson acknowledged that Appellant asked her to consider the criteria relied upon by the parole board in making its decision to deny parole to Appellant; however, she did not acknowledge her refusal to permit Appellant to present evidence on this point. R. 49-59.<sup>5</sup> Citing to the parole board manual and a statute, Judge Jefferson claimed the board must “carefully consider whether the prison has shown a disposition to reform, whether the prisoner is likely to obey the law and lead a correct life in the future, whether the prisoner’s conduct has merited a lessening of the rigors of imprisonment, whether society’s interest will be impaired by parole, and whether suitable employment has been secured for the inmate.” R. 49-59. Finally, the judge noted the “parole board must also consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment.” R. 49-59.

Regarding Appellant’s claim that the parole criteria “fail[ed] to consider the factors of youthfulness and immaturity” as required by the federal and state constitutions, Judge Jefferson concluded that Appellant was “in effect, asking [the] court to review the decisions made by the

---

<sup>4</sup> During the hearing, Judge Jefferson intimated that she was not going to consider Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016). R. 19, ll. 7-9; r. 19, ll. 13-19. Nevertheless, she relied heavily upon the case in her order. R. 49-59.

<sup>5</sup> Judge Jefferson’s order did not acknowledge that at the hearing, she indicated to counsel that she would not consider the policies and procedures in place for the parole board or that she refused to permit counsel to present evidence related to the parole board’s considerations. R. 31, l. 22 – R. 32, l. 19. Nevertheless, her order referenced the criteria and the manual used by the parole board. R. 49-59.

board as well as the decision-making process itself.” R. 49-59. According to the judge, Appellant was “in effect asking [the] court to usurp the board’s statutory decision-making authority and substitute it with its own.” R. 49-59. She determined “[s]uch a request [was] improper.” R. 49-59. Nevertheless, Judge Jefferson claimed that “a denial of parole, in and of itself, [did] not mean that [Appellant] ha[d] been denied a meaningful review.” R. 49-59. Although the judge recognized that Appellant was asking the circuit court to determine whether his sentence, which included his release from imprisonment being determined by certain criteria, complied with federal and state constitutions, the judge determined Appellant was “effectively asking the court to usurp the authority of the parole board to make parole determinations, and instead substitute its own judgment as to whether [Appellant] should have been granted parole.” R. 49-59. The judge refused to “render an opinion as to the appropriateness of the parole board’s decision” and found that “[s]uch a determination [was] not dispositive as to the applicability of Aiken to [Appellant]’s sentence.” R. 49-59.

In his motion to reconsider, Appellant argued against the circuit court’s construction of his request. R. 60-67. Appellant explained he did not ask the circuit court to “substitute its judgment for that of the parole board” or ask the circuit court to “sit in judgment of that body’s particularized execution of its statutory and regulatory functions.” R. 60-67. Instead, Appellant “sought to elicit testimony to demonstrate the degree to which the statutory and regulatory framework directing the parole board’s activities comports with the constitutional protections demanded by Miller and its progeny.” R. 60-67. Additionally, Appellant clarified that he sought re-sentencing because “the process, the very structure and plan of South Carolina’s parole system, is directly at odds with the meaningful review contemplated by Montgomery v. Alabama.” R. 60-67. Appellant admitted that his parole denials did not prove the structural

deficiencies, but he argued the state “did not and [could not] demonstrate that the parole process – as it relates to *any* defendant – involves any meaningful consideration of the Miller factors,” rendering his sentence the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence. R. 60-67.

Thereafter, Judge Jefferson denied Appellant’s motion for reconsideration. R. 68-69. Judge Jefferson indicated she rendered her decision “after careful and deliberate consideration of Aiken v. Byars and its predecessors, Miller v. Alabama and Montgomery v. [Louisiana].” R. 68-69. Additionally, the judge determined Appellant’s motion to reconsider failed to raise any issues or proffer any argument not considered by the court in its prior ruling. R. 68-69. According to the judge, the motion “simply restate[d] previous arguments made by [Appellant] and considered by the court.” R. 68-69.

## ARGUMENT

I. In violation of the state and federal constitutions, the judge erred in denying Appellant's request for re-sentencing where he received a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, because the statutory and regulatory scheme governing parole does not provide for consideration of the characteristics attendant to youth.

### *Standard of review*

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

### *Introduction*

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). Using this basic premise, on June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court held mandatory sentences of life without parole (LWOP) imposed upon juveniles violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. at 479.

“To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010) (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. One of those lines imposes categorical rules and generally considers those rules as applied to groups of offenses or offenders. For example, Supreme Court prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Id. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 421 (2008)).

Not long after the Court’s opinion in Miller, our Supreme Court reviewed non-mandatory life sentences for juveniles in South Carolina through the lens of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. Finding that “Miller does more than ban mandatory life

sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered," the Court held the sentencing judge must "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison" and that this requirement "deserves universal application." *Id.* at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court held the class of petitioners in the case "and those similarly situated" were "entitled to resentencing to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight." *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

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