**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAY 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

v.

**CORY LAMONT SPARKMAN,**

**Appellant.**

Appellate Case No. 2018-000172

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101477  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

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

instructed, “Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to irredeemable, and thus deserving of incarceration for the duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life.” *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75. Accordingly, a grant of parole eligibility—as opposed to an individualized sentencing hearing—was expressly recognized as an appropriate way to remedy an unconstitutional sentence involving a juvenile offender.

*Appellant Not Entitled to Resentencing: He Received Life With Parole Sentence*

The circuit court did not err in its application of *Miller* or *Aiken* as both cases hold the relief granted extends only to juveniles sentenced to life *without* the possibility of parole. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 470 (holding mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile offenders who committed murder violates the Eighth Amendment); *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (holding juveniles who received a life without parole sentence were entitled to resentencing to allow them to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth). Appellant received a life *with* parole sentence and the circuit court was correct in finding he was not “within the ambit of juvenile offenders eligible for resentencing under *Miller* and *Aiken*.” (R.p.54). By their explicit holdings, both cases apply only to those juveniles sentenced to life without the possibility of parole—a sentence appellant did not receive. Finding appellant is entitled to relief would impermissibly extend the holdings in *Miller* and *Aiken* beyond their plain language and the circuit court properly denied the motion for resentencing. *See, e.g., Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at \*37 (declining to extend *Graham* beyond its “explicit holding” without further input from the United States Supreme Court).

Importantly, appellant’s life sentence for the murder he committed while a juvenile was

not one which denied him all possibility of release, leaving him with no opportunity or incentive for rehabilitation. *Cf. Graham*, 560 U.S. at 79 (“The State has denied him any chance to later demonstrate that he is fit to rejoin society based solely on a nonhomicide crime that he committed while he was a child in the eyes of the law. This the Eighth Amendment does not permit.”). Appellant’s life sentence includes parole eligibility which is a meaningful way by which he can attempt to obtain release during his lifetime. *See Johnson v. State*, 546 S.W.3d 470, 471 (Ark. 2018) (“Because Johnson’s sentence of life imprisonment [for murder] now carries with it the possibility of parole, his contention that his sentence violates the requirements of *Miller* is incorrect.”). Appellant has the sentence the Supreme Court found can remedy a *Miller* violation because it gives him the ability to show he is capable of change. *See Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736 (explaining giving juvenile homicide offenders parole eligibility means inmates who are show an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences but the “opportunity for release will be afforded to those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*’s central intuition—that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change”). Appellant became eligible for parole just twenty years after he began serving his sentence for murder and, since then, he has received and will continue to receive regular opportunities to obtain release. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A) (providing the punishment for a conviction or guilty plea to murder shall be death or life imprisonment, and if sentenced to life, the person shall not be eligible for parole until the service of twenty years, or thirty years). Appellant’s sentence of life with parole affords him the opportunity for release, and it is not cruel and unusual for constitutional purposes. *See State v. Williams-Bey*, 167 Conn. App. 744, 765 (Conn. App. Ct. 2016) (“We do not believe that the United States Supreme Court would so glibly identify a constitutionally adequate remedy under the eighth amendment [as it did in *Montgomery*]. . . . We

conclude that parole eligibility is an adequate remedy for sentences that violated *Miller* as applied retroactively.”) (citation omitted).

The Fourth Circuit recently considered a case in which a juvenile homicide offender appealed after repeated denials of parole. *Bowling v. Director of Va. Dep’t of Corr.*, No. 18-6170, 2019 WL 1449139, at \*1 (4th Cir. Apr. 2, 2019). Appellant alleged the parole board violated the constitution when it processed his applications because it was not specifically required to consider age-related characteristics unique to juvenile offenders. *Id.* In a published opinion, the court declined “to find that juvenile-specific Eighth Amendment protections extend to juvenile homicide offenders sentenced to life with parole” or “to find that those protections extend beyond sentencing proceedings.” *Id.* at \*4. Explaining its reasoning, the Fourth Circuit stated:

Significantly, the Supreme Court has placed no explicit constraints on a sentencing court’s ability to sentence a juvenile offender to life with parole. The Court has not yet gone so far as to require that juvenile offenders be released from prison during their lifetime. *See Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75, 130 S.Ct. 2011. (“A State is not required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender . . .”). That is to say, the Court “[did] not foreclose” the possibility that “the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption” could be sentenced to life without parole. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479-80, 132 S.Ct. 2455. Rather, the Supreme Court required that, before sentencing a juvenile to life without parole, sentencing courts “take into account how children are different.” *Id.* at 480, 132 S.Ct. 2455.

*Id.* The court found, given the disagreement among circuits about the application of *Miller* and its protections “to sentences that are practically equivalent to life without parole, we are satisfied that those protections have not yet reached a juvenile offender who has and will continue to receive parole considerations.” *Id.*

Here, the circuit court also properly rejected appellant’s argument advanced during the

hearing that he was serving the equivalent of a life without parole sentence because he had been denied parole since becoming eligible on July 14, 2012. (R.pp.8-13; pp.20-21; R.pp.53-57).

Neither our courts nor the United States Supreme Court have extended the *Miller* rule to apply to sentences other than life without parole, such as a *de facto* life sentence. As explained above, the *Slocumb* Court specifically declined to do so, and collected cases from other jurisdictions which had done the same, while also acknowledging a split of authority. *See Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at \*37-38, \*40-49; *see e.g., Bunch v. Smith*, 685 F.3d 546, 552 (6th Cir. 2012) (determining that until the Supreme Court rules term-of-year sentences resulting in the functional equivalent of life without parole offend the Eighth Amendment, such sentences do not violate clearly established federal law); *In re Harrell*, No. 16-1048, 2016 WL 4708184 (6th Cir. Sept. 8, 2016) (denying motion for successive federal habeas corpus petition, because the defendant's 60-150 years of imprisonment for murder when he was seventeen was not the functional equivalent of mandatory life without parole; defendant was eligible for parole at seventy-seven-years old); *State v. Ali*, 895 N.W.2d 237, 242, 244-46 (Minn. 2017) (declining to extend *Miller* to *de facto* life sentences resulting from multiple crimes and/or consecutive sentences), *cert. denied*, 138 S.Ct. 640 (2018); *People v. Aponte*, 981 N.Y.S.2d 902, 905 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2013) (determining *Miller* and *Graham* applied only to sentences of life without parole and because the defendant remained technically parole eligible, despite the prospect his sentence may preclude him from release, his sentence was not unconstitutional).

Recognizing appellant did not receive a sentence of life without parole or one that would unconstitutionally deny him a meaningful opportunity to obtain release during his lifetime, the circuit court correctly denied appellant's motion for resentencing. Appellant's parole-eligible life sentence is in no way unconstitutional and this Court should affirm the circuit

court's ruling.

*Proper Authority Determines Eligibility for Release*

The circuit court's ruling also affords appellant the continuous attempt to obtain release by demonstrating to the proper authority rehabilitation, maturity, and growth. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 ("The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment."); *see also State v. Calhoun*, 222 So. 3d 903, 907 (La. Ct. App. 2017) ("He has a chance at parole, but he will have to earn it. This scheme is reasonable and satisfies *Miller*."). At the same time, the circuit court's order ensures appellant will remain incarcerated for the murder he committed if he fails to sufficiently mature and rehabilitate to such an extent that a grant of parole would be warranted. *Cf. Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75 ("It bears emphasis . . . that while the Eighth Amendment prohibits a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile nonhomicide offender, it does not require the State to release that offender during his natural life.").

Every two years, the parole board considers evidence presented by appellant to determine whether he is eligible for release. *See James v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 376 S.C. 392, 396, 656 S.E.2d 399, 401 (Ct. App. 2008) ("[A]n inmate has a liberty interest in gaining access to the parole board, although there is no protected right to parole."). Nothing guarantees anyone the right to parole or release, including appellant. By statute, the parole board may only grant release if the inmate "has shown a disposition to reform," he will probably obey the law and "lead a correct life" in the future, his conduct led to "a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment," the "interest of society will not be impaired" by the inmate's release, and he has secured suitable employment. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. Examining its manual, it is clear the board can also examine any other factors it "may consider relevant." *See* DPPPS South

Carolina Board of Pardons and Paroles Policy and Procedure Manual, (June 2017), p.27, <https://www.dppps.sc.gov/content/download/120663/2749351/file/Parole+Board+Manual+June+7+2017.pdf> (providing other criteria the board can consider including the inmate's criminal history and risk to the community, general attitude, health, adjustment while confined, employment history, and “[a]ny other factors that the Board may consider relevant”) (Parole Board Manual).

Critically, these are the exact types of criteria the Fourth Circuit considered in *Bowling* and found provide a meaningful opportunity for release. *Bowling*, 2019 WL 1449139, at \*5. While declining to find *Miller* extends juvenile-specific protections beyond a sentencing proceeding, the court also explained it was not persuaded appellant’s parole proceedings fell below the standard established in *Graham* and *Miller*. *Id.* at \*4-5. The court found the parole board considered whether appellant’s release “would be compatible with public safety and the mutual interests of society” and appellant, whether his “character, conduct, vocational training, and other developmental activities during incarceration reflect the probability” he will lead a law-abiding life in the community and “live up to all the conditions of parole,” appellant’s “personal history,” his institutional adjustment, change in attitude, appellant’s release plans, his evaluations, “impressions gained . . . by the parole examiner,” and any other information provided by appellant. *Id.* at \*5. The Fourth Circuit found the factors allowed the parole board “to fully consider the inmate’s age at the time of the offense, as well as any evidence submitted to demonstrate his maturation since then, and account for the concern at the heart of *Graham* and *Miller*: ‘that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.’” *Id.* (citing *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736). The court noted although the bases of the board’s denials have been linked to the severity of appellant’s crime previously, the record suggests there is a

possibility, in time, his conduct and positive adjustment while in prison, when considered with all other factors, will outweigh the concerns the board has for the offense. *Id.* (internal citation omitted); *see also State v. Scott*, 416 P.3d 1182, 1187 (Wash. 2018) (finding the statutory grant of parole eligibility to Scott remedied any constitutional issues with his “de facto” life sentence for offenses he committed as a juvenile, rejecting the argument the parole process was inadequate due to the fact “it does not provide for consideration of a defendant’s diminished capacity due to attributes of youth,” and noting the United States Supreme Court in *Montgomery* expressly approved of a Wyoming parole-eligibility statute that also did *not* require consideration of factors related to youth as part of a parole determination).

Every two years when appellant goes before the parole board, he has the opportunity to demonstrate the maturity and rehabilitation necessary to entitle him to release. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 (providing the board required to consider an inmate’s record before, during, and after imprisonment). Appellant has the opportunity to present evidence, including the testimony of favorable witnesses, to demonstrate his “disposition to reform” and that he will obey the law if he is released from prison. *See* Parole Board Manual, p.20 (providing during a parole hearing, the prisoner has the opportunity to present evidence and have up to three witnesses speak on his behalf). One of the criteria considered by the parole board is an inmate’s disciplinary record while incarcerated. Appellant’s record while incarcerated does not show “a disposition to reform” nor is it evidence he will likely obey the law if he is released from prison. Appellant’s inmate detail report maintained by the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) shows a history of disciplinary actions, including multiple counts of possession or attempt to possess a cell phone, drug use, and violation of institution rules. *See* SCDC Inmate Detail Report, <http://public.doc.state.sc.us/scdc-public/inmateDetails.do?id=%2000199433>.

Such a disciplinary record is not evidence of rehabilitation or reform in keeping with the “central intuition” of *Miller* that children who commit even violent crimes are capable of change. See *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 480 (finding children’s diminished culpability and heightened capacity to change requires sentencing authorities to take into account how children are different prior to “irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison”); see also *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736 (noting evidence of petitioner’s “evolution from a troubled, misguided youth to a model member of the prison community” was relevant and the kind of information prisoners use to demonstrate rehabilitation).

The circuit court properly recognized it did not have the authority to evaluate the criteria the parole board uses to determine parole eligibility, or to review the previous decisions in appellant’s case denying his release. (R.pp.56-57). The question before the lower court was limited to whether appellant’s sentence was unconstitutional because it denied him all opportunity for release. As the circuit court properly found, appellant’s sentence was “categorically different” from those at issue in *Miller* and *Aiken* because he is eligible for parole. (R.pp.54-55). Accordingly, appellant’s life with parole sentence is constitutional and this Court should affirm the circuit court’s ruling.

*Whether Sentence “Mandatory” and Whether It Violates State Constitution Not Preserved*

Two issues appellant raises in his brief before this Court are not preserved for review. First, appellant argues his sentence of life with parole was mandatory because the sentencing judge did not have discretion at the time to sentence him to anything other than life or death. (FBOA, pp.40-42). Second, appellant argues his sentence violates the state constitution which provides greater protections than the federal constitution. (FBOA, pp.43-44). Neither of these issues were raised to or ruled on by the circuit court. See *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603

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